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INTRODUCTION


THE FISHING INDUSTRY AT THE end of the Second World War was quick on the recovery after six years of restricted fishing. Although the building of Admiralty motor fishing vessels (MFVs) had progressed during the war, giving work to the Scottish east-coast boatbuilders, as well as serving naval requirements during the hostilities, it was proposed that the design would be deemed suitable for the fishing industry afterwards. To this end, those that survived the war were sold off once they were no longer needed by the Admiralty, and at the same time the demand for new boats increased. Boatyards thrived because, not only did these MFVs need refitting for fishing but various government acts allowed grants and loans to be made to skippers so that the older stock of steam drifters and those left from the sailing era could be replaced with the new breed of dual-purpose motor boats.


In Fraserburgh the three yards of James Noble, J. & G. Forbes of Sandhaven and William Noble had all been producing these standard MFVs during the war, and afterwards were busy, so it wasn’t surprising locally when a new yard, opened by three local men, appeared. Tommy Summers & Co., as it was named, was incredible for the very shortness of its life. In the space of thirteen years, between 1949 and 1962, the yard produced eighty-nine fishing vessels, which is no mean feat. Compared with the output of other similar yards, this was far in excess of their yearly average.


This, then, is the story of those relatively few years, told through records and personal memories. Mostly it’s a litany of the series of excellent and hardy fishing boats, which have been grouped into three separate categories. Many of these craft survive today, especially the smaller ones, which in itself serves as a testament to their superb design and solid construction.


If I were asked to describe the work of Tommy Summers in a word, the nearest I can think of is ‘innovational’, or possibly even ‘revolutionary’, for his work in the design of fishing boats was just that. Moreover he was hard-working, inspirational and dedicated, although later on in life it appears he regarded himself as a failure. Nothing can be further from the truth and, in my mind, I’ve learnt through the process of writing that the sense of his achievement is simply overwhelming. But this book is about the boatbuilding yard and all those others that worked in it, and it must be remembered that he was one part – if a major one indeed – of that team. Unfortunately it has been pretty impossible to learn much about his partners George McLeman and Bill Duthie, although a couple of informants were able to pass on character assessments which glowed as bright as the Northern Lights! Three partners then, of somewhat equal integrity, together formed a firm that, because it was so short-lived, can be regarded as a sort of time capsule of boatbuilding in the mid-twentieth century.
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Fraserburgh harbour from an old postcard with yawls in the foreground and the boatbuilding shed of James Noble and the harbour slipway used by Thomas Summers to launch yawls.
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A LITTLE BIT OF HISTORY


FRASERBURGH – ORIGINALLY AN AMALGAMATION of the harbour of Faithlie, first built about 1547, on the eastern side of the north-west tip of Aberdeenshire and the fishing village of Broadsea (originally Seatown) to the north-west around the bay – was laid out as a new town in the sixteenth century by the local landowning Fraser family of Philorth (hence Fraser’s burgh or ‘Frazersburgh’ as one mapmaker put it in 1747) a time after it had become a Royal Burgh in 1601. Built to compete with Peterhead and Aberdeen, it was initially the herring fishing, and subsequently the white fishery, that created the harbour (and town) as it is now. But it was Broadsea that was originally the home of the fishermen and, in 1789, it had forty-two fishermen working off the beach with small open boats, twenty-nine of whom had the surname Noble. There were seven boats each crewed by six men and it has been said that they sailed as far as Barra Head, on the west coast, in their search for fish.




[image: Illustration]

Broadsea beach prior to a harbour being built for beach-based fishing craft.





Faithlie was little more than a couple of quays surrounding a sandy beach where boats could be drawn up and, prior to the nineteenth century, was the domain of the soldiers and trading boats. Presumably it was exposed to the south-east. By the early nineteenth century the North Pier had been extended and the South Harbour added. This was a time when the herring fishing was rapidly expanding after government interaction in the 1790s. Fraserburgh then became an important herring station during the early summer season and, presumably, the Broadsea men based themselves there.


By 1815 bounties for the herring fishing had been introduced for small craft and the east coast of Scotland’s herring fishing turned from being a cottage industry to a commercial fishery. That year, as John Cranna tells us in Fraserburgh, Past and Present:




The boats had no decks whatever, and measured about 20 feet of keel and 12 feet of beam. The crews depended as much upon the oars as the sails for going to and coming from the fishing grounds. The craft never went more than a few miles from the shore in quest of the herring. This accounts for the comparatively small loss of life at sea in these early years. Caught in a gale thirty or forty miles at sea, these cockle shells would have instantly foundered, with results which need not be conjured up. The crews, however, excellent judges of the weather, kept the harbour when lowering clouds appeared, and if at sea, smelt danger from afar, and promptly sought the friendly shelter of port before the fury of the tempest overtook them. Thus were they able nearly a hundred years ago to prosecute their calling in comparative safety, frail though their boats were.





This tends to contradict their sailing to the west coast, yet further developments in the nineteenth century created a much larger harbour as the herring fishing flourished and boats sailed further afield. The number of boats participating in the herring fishing in the district increased rapidly so that by 1830 there were 214 Fraserburgh boats, twenty-four from Peterhead and thirty-four from Rosehearty. This suggests that there were only local boats working out of the harbour though Cranna reports that boats from the Firth of Forth and a few from the north came. At the same time there were thirty fish-curing yards dotted around the town, as Cranna says:




… in the most out-of-the-way places. Messrs. Bruce, for instance, cured on a little bit of ground facing Broad Street and Shore Street, immediately to the south of the Crown Hotel. Curing plots were being freely let off at the entrance to the Links, about or near where the railway station now is, and several firms cured there. The trade was slowly but surely consolidating at Fraserburgh. In the year 1830 the catch of herrings in the Fraserburgh district, which included Peterhead, etc., touched the very respectable figures of 56,182 crans, while the number of curers for Fraserburgh alone was 30, being two more than in 1828.





Boat design altered after the great south-easterly storm in August 1848 when many fishing boats were lost along the east coast, with tragic fatalities amongst the fishers. Many of these were overcome by the sheer force of the waves when returning in the face of the storm to unsafe harbours, but seemingly the Fraserburgh men survived intact whereas in Peterhead there were thirty-one casualties with twenty-eight boats wrecked. But the storm forced Parliament to act and the subsequent report submitted by Captain John Washington made various recommendations with regard to harbour improvement and vessel design, as well as the phasing out of the error of plying fishermen with whisky in part payment for their labours! However, Fraserburgh did have its own storm to remember in 1850 when a north-westerly gale forced boats onto the sands. In the face of tradegy only one life was lost, with ten boats driven ashore.


In the harbour the Balaclava Pier was added over the Inch Rocks in the 1850s to create more protection and later the South Pier was built, followed by the Balaclava Harbour works. Boats also became larger due to improved building techniques in carvel construction where planks are laid side by side instead of overlapping or clinker (clench) building. Decks were added to the previously undecked craft, affording greater seaworthiness and safety at sea.


As more and more men were enticed into fishing – what else was there? – the demand for fishing boats grew, as did that for trading vessels to carry the herring off to markets. With the arrival of the railway to Fraserburgh in 1865, allowing fish to be carried away to the centres of population such as Edinburgh and Glasgow, the landings increased rapidly. Some maritime industries suffered – sailmaking and rope works in the main – as these commodities could be produced elsewhere cheaper, and consequently Fraserburgh saw no incoming industrialisation on a large scale.


Fishing became the main occupation of the second half of the nineteenth century, at first aboard the great Zulus and fifies, with their powerful lug rigs, and then with the introduction of steam drifters and trawlers. In the 1880s there were some sixty curers working in the town. On one night in July 1884, 667 boats landed 20,010 cran of herring, and the herring lassies were kept busy processing this catch into barrels. But such was the enormity of the catch, and the fact that the fish were small, that even though they worked all night, the women were unable to gut it all, and with more being landed the next day, some 4,000 cran were dumped in the harbour with plenty more being carted to farmers who laid it on their fields as fertiliser.
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Small open yawls upon the bach at Inverallochy at the end of the nineteenth century.
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Fraserburgh harbour simply filled with fishing boats prior to 1939.





Fish processing (an improvement from ‘curing’) was an important part of the industry and supplied the British army with rations in the Boer War and again in both the First and Second World Wars. In the early 1920s, with the advent of the internal combustion engine, so began the last great development in wooden fishing-boat design with cruiser-sterned herring drifters, canoe-sterned ring-netters and double-ended seiners leading to, later, transom-sterned craft as motor power increased. Further harbour expansion brought about the Faithlie Basin, the completion of which ended the expansion of the harbour, although improvements continued and do so right up to this day.


Needless to say, boats needed boatbuilders and Fraserburgh has had some well-known names in that respect over time. One of the first documented was a Mr John Dalrymple, a member of a family that came to Fraserburgh from the Firth of Forth, who had a facility at Black Sands in the early nineteenth century.


Another was John Webster, described as a shipbuilder who employed fifty carpenters and who commenced work in 1840 but had ceased by 1887. It appears he was originally from Aberdeen but chose Fraserburgh to set up his yard. Mr Weatherhead – a name well known further south – worked for some twenty-five years up to 1900, while another name was Scott & Yule from 1890–1915. Both Mr Scott and Mr Yule had been apprentices to Webster and took over his dilapidated yard. This company was, according to Cranna in 1914, ‘kept very busy building fishing boats known as steam drifters, which in some measure, fills up the gap caused by the collapse of shipbuilding.’ However, within a year the yard had closed, a reflection maybe on the general state of shipbuilding. Alexander Noble, an apprentice from Scott & Yule’s, opened a yard adjacent to Provost Anderson’s Jetty in 1898 but handed over to his son Wilson Noble in 1910, a name that survived until 1959. Unfortunately there seem to be no records of the boats that yard built prior to 1911, but that year it is known he built two Zulu-type boats: Violet, FR451 and Vesper. Violet still survives in the US. By the 1920s they were building seiners although they had also built motor minesweepers during the war.


During the first half of the twentieth century, boatbuilding, along with the fishing industry itself, saw its ups and downs caused by a mixture of depression, recession and war. Wilson’s younger brother James, one of Wilson’s apprentices, decided yacht building would be more beneficial than relying on fishing boats and so he left his brother and started his own yard in 1932 at the north end of the harbour. However, new yachts never came his way but fishing boat orders did, and stuck! So much so that he was later joined by another brother, Charles. From building their first boat Wistaria, BCK116, that year, to their final vessel in 1981, they completed 223 vessels including twenty Admiralty MFVs during the war.
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In the 1920s many boats changed over to the seine net, a Danish invention. Huge coils of rope were needed for this mode of fishing and here Fraserburgh men were kept fully employed tarring the ropes used by the fishermen by dragging them through a tank of tar.





At the same time, a little to the west of Fraserburgh, the Forbes family was producing fine craft of repute, something it had been building at the head of the small harbour of Sandhaven since 1884. Another company, Buchan, Hall & Mitchell started up in 1922 (partners: Peter Buchan, Hugh Hall and William Mitchell) which has been documented as building fishing vessels at their premises at the southern end of the Faithlie Basin.


Finally, in 1948, three carpenters from James Noble’s yard – all apprenticed there – decided to set up their own business and it was agreed by these men that the company would be called Thomas Summers & Co.
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